
Anhui Chao Lake Environmental Protection Project (RRP PRC 44036) 

Procurement Capacity Assessment Questionnaire 

Part A. General Resource Assessment Response 

A.1. Is there a procurement department? 
Yes, Anhui Chao Lake Environmental 
Rehabilitation Project Management Office 
(Anhui PMO) 

A.2. What procurement does it 
undertake? 

Responsibility for coordination and 
guidance of [As 

A.3. Is the staff provided with written job 
descriptions? 

Yes 

A.4. How many years experience does 
the head of the procurement unit have in a 
direct procurement role? 

12 years 

A.5. How many staff in the procurement 
department are: 

9 

i. Full Time? 7 

   ii. Part Time? 1 

   iii. Seconded? 2 

A.6. At what level does the department 
report (to the head of agency, deputy etc.)? 

Project Leading Group 

A.7. Does the staff that will be involved 
with the procurement have English language 
skills sufficient to undertake international 
procurement? 

Yes 

A.8. Are the number and qualifications of 
the staff sufficient to undertake the additional 
procurement that will be required under the 
proposed project? 

Yes 

A.9. Does the unit have adequate 
facilities such as PCs, internet connections, 
photocopy facilities, printers etc. to undertake 
the expected procurement? 

Yes 

A.10. Is there a procurement training 
program? 

No 

Part B. Procurement Processes: Goods 

and Works 

 

B.1.     Has the agency undertaken foreign 
assisted procurement of goods or works 
recently (last 12 months, or last 36 months)? (If 
yes funded by whom and name of the Project) 

Yes, Engaged in 1- Chao Lake Dredging & 
Embankment of WB-funded; and 2 — 
Highway 105 section of Chao Lake to 
Wujiang Highway Reconstruction project of 
WB -funded. 

B.2.     If the above is yes, what were the major 
challenges? 

Process is more complex and lengthy 
procurement process 

B.3.     Is there a procurement process manual 
for goods and works? 

No 



2 

 

B.4.     If there is a manual is it up to date and 
does it cover foreign assisted procurement? 

No 

B.5.     Is there a systematic process to identify 
procurement requirements (1 year or more)? 

Being discussed 

B.6.     Who drafts the specifications? As assisted by the design institute 

B.7.     Who approves the specification? EA 

B.8.     Are there standard bidding documents 
in use and have they been approved for use on 
ADB funded projects? 

Yes, ADB standard documents will be used 
for ICB and national standard documents 
used for NCB 

B.9.    Who drafts the bidding documents? 
Agencies for the Commercial Part and IA 
for the Technical Part 

B.10.  Who manages the sale of the 
document? 

Agencies 

B.11.   Are all queries from bidders replied to in 
writing? 

Yes 

B.12.   Is there a minimum period for 
preparation of bids and if yes how long? 

Yes, according to the PRC laws and 
regulations is 15 days 

B.13.   Does the bidding document state the 
date and time of opening and how close is it to 
the.deadline for submission? 

Yes, the start of the bidding opening and 
the deadline for submission is the same 
time. 

B.14.   Is the opening public? Yes 

B.15.   Can late bids be accepted? No, will be rejected 

B.16.   Can bids be rejected at bid opening? 
Unless the bid did not follow the bidding 
document requirements, otherwise the bid 
is accepted. 

B.17.   Are minutes taken? Yes 

B.18.   Who may have a copy of the minutes? 
Administrative supervision and 
management departments, project owners 
and all the bidders 

B.19.   Are the minutes free of charge? Yes 
B.20. Who 
(individual
(s), 
committee
)? 

undertakes the evaluation 
permanent committee, ad-hoc 

IA and tender section committee formed by 
specialists selected at random from 
government specialist database. 

B.21.   What are the qualifications of the 
evaluators in respect to procurement and the 
goods and works under evaluation? 

High senior and professional titles that are 
recognized by PRC 

B.22.   Is the decision of the evaluators final or 
is the evaluation subject to additional 
approvals? 

 
Evaluation results are the final results 

B.23.   Using at least three real examples how 
long between the issue of the invitation for bids 
and contract effectiveness? 

Project 
Bid 
Invitation 

Contract 
Effectiveness 

Word Bank El- Chao 
Lake Feidong section 
civil 
contract 

2008.3.12 2008.6.20 

Word Bank E2- Chao 
Lake Bingzi test 
section civil contract 

2007.11.24 2008.1.10 
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Word Bank- Chao 
Lake monitoring 
project contract 

2008.3.4 2008.5.19 

B.24.    Are there processes in place for the Yes 

collection and clearance of cargo through ports 
of entry? 

 

B.25    Are there established goods receiving 
procedures? 

Yes 

B.26.   Are all goods received recorded as 
assets or inventory in a register or similar? 

Yes 

B.27.   Is the agency / procurement department 
familiar with letters of credit? 

Not familiar 

B.28.   Does the procurement department 
register and track warranty and latent defects 
liability periods? 

Yes 

 
Part C. Procurement Processes: 
Consulting Services 

 

C.1.    Has the agency undertaken foreign 
assisted procurement of consulting services 
recently (last 12 months, or last 36 months)? 

Yes 

C.2.    If the above is yes what were the major 
challenges? 

Process is more complex, and subproject 
IA is not familiar with procurement process 

C.3.    Is there a procurement process manual 
for consulting services procurement? 

Yes, from the guidance of ADB 

C.4.    Is the manual up to date and does it 
cover foreign assisted projects? 

Yes 

C.5.    Who identifies the need for consulting 
services requirements? 

EA and owners unit 

C.6.    Who drafts the ToR? EA and IA 

C.7.    Do the Terms of Reference follow a 
standard format such as background, tasks, 
inputs, objectives and outputs? 

Yes 

C.8.    Who prepares the request for 
proposals? 

EA 

C.9.    Are assignments advertised and 
expressions of interest called for? 

According to the State regulations notices, 
but do not need letters of intent 

C.10.   Is a consultants' selection committee 
formed with appropriate individuals in terms of 
procurement and technical expertise? 

Yes 

C.11.   What criteria are used to evaluate 
EOls? 

The PRC laws and regulations and ADB 
guidelines 

C.12.   Historically what is the most common 
method used (QCBS, QBS etc.)? 

Based on quality and cost selection 

C.13.   Do firms have to pay for the proposal 
document? 

Yes 
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C.14.    Do the evaluative criteria follow a pre-
determined structure and are they detailed in 
the RFP? 

Yes 

C.15.    Are pre-proposal visits and meetings 
arranged? 

yes 

C.16.    Are minutes prepared and circulated 
after pre-proposal meetings? 

Yes 

C.17.    To who are minutes distributed? Tendering Agency (bidder) 

C.18.    Are all queries from consultants 
answered to in writing? 

Yes 

C.19.    Are the financial and technical 
proposals in separate envelopes? 

Yes 

C.20.    Are proposal securities required? Yes 

C.21.    Are technical proposals opened in 
public? 

Yes 

C.22.    Do the financial proposals remain 
sealed until technical evaluation is completed? Yes 

C.23.    Are minutes of technical opening 
distributed? 

No 

C.24.   Who determines the final technical 
ranking and how? 

Scoring method used, the bid evaluation 
committee collectively will make a group 
decision 

C.25    Are the technical scores published and 
sent to all firms? 

No 

C.26.   Is the financial proposal open in public? 
Yes 

C.27.   Are there minutes taken and distributed 
of financial proposal opening? 

No 

C.28.   How is the financial evaluation 
completed? 

Integrated scoring 

C.29.   Are face to face contract negotiations 
held? 

Yes 

C.30.   How long after financial evaluation is 
the selected firm to negotiate? 

Publication of evaluation tender's results is 
after 3 days and within 10 days 

C.31.   What is the usual basis for negotiation? 
Bidding and tender documents 

C.32    Are minutes of negotiation taken and 
signed? 

Yes 

C.33.   How long after negotiations until the 
contract is signed? 

Within 10 days 

C.34.  Are advance payments made? Yes 

C.35.  Is there an evaluation system for 
measuring the outputs of consultants? Yes 

Part D. Process Oversight and Control 
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D.1.    Is there a standard statement of ethics 
and are those involved in procurement required 
to formally commit to it? 

Yes 

D.2.   Are those involved with procurement 
required to declare any potential conflict of 
interest and remove themselves from the 
procurement process? 

Yes 

D.3.      Is the commencement of procurement Yes 

dependent on external approvals (formal or 
de-facto) outside of the budgeting process? 

 

D.4.     Who approves procurement 
transactions and do they have procurement 
experience and qualifications? 

Yes, the project site administration 

D.5.     Which of the following actions require 
approval outside of the procurement unit or a 
permanent evaluation committee and who 
grants the approval? 

Require, EA 

a.) Bidding document, invitation to pre-
qualify or request for proposal 

Require, EA 

b.) Advertisement of an invitation for bids, 
pre-qualification or call for expressions 
of interest 

Require, assessment Committee 

c.) Evaluation reports Require, EA 

d.) Notice of award Require, EA 

e.) Invitation to consultants to negotiate Require, EA 

f.) Contracts Require, EA 

D.6.    Is contractual performance 
systematically monitored and reported upon? 

Yes 

D.7.    Does the agency monitor and track its 
contractual payment obligations? 

yes 

D.8.    On average how long is it between 
receiving a firm's invoice and making payment? Depending on project situation 

D.9.    What is the standard period for payment 
included in contracts? 

No standard period 

D.10.  When payment is made late are the 
beneficiaries paid interest? 

No 

D.11.  Are payments authorized by the same 
individuals empowered to approve invitation 
documents, evaluations and contracts? 

No 

D.12.  Is there a written auditable trail of 
procurement decisions attributable to 
individuals and committees? 

Yes 

D.13.  Are procurement decisions and disputes 
supported by written narratives such as 
minutes of evaluation, minutes of negotiation, 
notices of default / withheld payment? 

Yes 
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D.14. Is there a formal non-judicial 
mechanism for dealing with complaints? 

No 

D.15. Is a complaints resolution mechanism 
described in national procurement documents? 

Yes 

Part E. Records Keeping 
 

E.1. Is there a referencing system for Yes 

procurement files?  

E.2.     Are original contracts secured in a fire 
and theft proof location? 

Yes 

E.3.     Are copies of bids or proposals retained 
with the evaluation? 

Reservation 

E.4.     Are copies of the original 
advertisements retained with the pre-contract 
papers? 

Reservation 

E.5.     Is there a single contract file with a copy 
of the contract and all subsequent contractual 
correspondence? 

Yes 

E.6.    Are copies of invoices included with 
contract papers? 

Copies of invoices will be retained 
separately 

E.7.    For what period are records kept? 30 years 
ADB = Asian Development Bank, EA = executing agency, E01 = expression of interest, IA = implementing 
agency, ICB = international competitive bidding, DI = design institute, NCB = national competitive bidding, 
PM0 = project management office, RFP = request for proposal, TOR = terms of reference, QBS = quality-
based selection, QCBS = quality- and cost-based selection, WB = World Bank.
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 1.3 Procurement Capacity Questionnaire Report and Recommendations 
 

1. An assessment of the procurement capacity of the executing agency and the 
implementing agencies has been made based on the information provided in the questionnaires 
and discussions with the executing agency and implementing agencies during the project 
preparatory technical assistance (PPTA) working period. The assessment report and 
recommendations are composed of the following parts: 

(i) Assessment of the National Procurement Environment; 
(ii) General Resource Assessment; 
(iii) Assessment of Procurement Processes for Goods and Works; 
(iv) Assessment of Procurement Processes for Consulting Service; 
(v) Assessment of Process Control and Oversight; 
(vi) Assessment of Records Keeping; 
(vii) Summary Assessment and Recommendations; 
(viii) Specific Recommendations on Project Implementation; 
(ix) General Recommendations on EA Capacity; and 
(x) General Recommendations on National Procurement Environment. 
 

1.4 Summary of Assessment and Recommendations for Project Implementation 
 
2. Based on a procurement capacity assessment undertaken for the executing and 
implementing agencies, it was confirmed that, using a procurement agency and with assistance 
from ADB and consultants, the executing and implementing agencies could appropriately 
conduct procurement work. A procurement agency which is familiar with ADB's procurement 
procedures will be engaged to conduct the procurement of all works and goods under the 
project on behalf of the executing and implementing agencies. 
 
3. Anhui PMO has some experience with WB projects but no experience with ADB 
projects. As this is the first ADB project for Anhui PMO and sub-project PMOs, engagement of a 
team of international and domestic loan implementation consultants to develop project 
management capacity including procurement capability during the project implementation stage 
is recommended. The consultants will review the detail design, specifications, operation and 
maintenance requirements, bid document contractual conditions, and bid evaluation reports, 
including address of ADB's comments on relevant documents. The consultants will also be able 
to impart experience to selected individuals of the executing agency and implementing agencies 
through these on-the-job training activities. 
 
4. ADB specialists may assist by conducting seminars to the executing agency and 
implementing agencies on ADB procurement requirements as detailed in ADB's Procurement 
Guidelines (2010, as amended from time to time) and payment procedures in accordance with 
ADB's Loan Disbursement Handbook (2012, as amended from time to time). 
 
5. Based upon the assessment of the current capacity of the executing agency and 
implementing agencies and ADB's Procurement Guidelines (2010, as amended from time to 
time), it is also recommended that ADB will require "Prior Review" to be applied to the following 
categories of procurement: 
 

(i) all international competitive bidding (ICB) contracts, 
(ii) the first national competitive bidding (NCB) contract for works, 
(iii) the first NCB contract for goods, and 
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(iv) consultancy recruitment by quality- and cost-based selection. 
 

6. "Post Review" will be adequate for shopping for works and goods. 
 

1.5 Procurement Capacity Assessment Report and Recommendations 

Proposed Project Name: P. R. China Proposed Amount: $250 million 

Executing Agency: Anhui Province Government Source of Funding: ADB/PRC 

Assessor: TA Consultant Date: November 2011 

Expected Procurement 

The Project involves a broad range of procurement contracts covering consulting services, 
goods, and works. For goods and works contracts, the main procurement method for 
works will be NCB; ICB may be used for major items while shopping will be applied 'for 
minor items. For consulting services for loan implementation, QCBS will be adopted. 

Assessment of the National Procurement Environment 

1. Two national procurement laws: 

 Borrower's Law of Tendering and Bidding of the People's Republic of China  
(the Bidding Law) effective 1 January 2000; and 

 Government Procurement Law, effective 29 June 2002. 
2. Neither law accommodates procurement of consulting services; neither law 

differentiates between processes for consulting services and goods/works. 
3. No national standard mandated for use for quality control purposes 
4. Procurement rules and regulations require registration of goods and works 

suppliers. 
5. No procurement accreditation program 

General Resource Assessment 

 PMOs are established at the provincial level (Anhui PMO) and at subprojects' level 
(city PMOs) 
(i) A staff of 12 in Anhui PMO oversees various aspects of the Project including 

procurement. 
(ii) Anhui PM0 will prepare and implement a procurement plan in consultation with the 

lAs and the design institutes. 
(iii) The EA and IAs all have engineering sections with staff experienced in design and 

construction of works. 
(iv)  A loan implementation consultant will be engaged to assist in procuring the goods 

and works under the Project in line with ADB requirements. 

Assessment of Procurement Processes for Goods and Works 

(i) The design institutes will prepare the design, specifications, and technical part of 
bid documents. 

(ii) The EA will hire a bidding agent experienced in external funded projects to prepare 
the commercial part of bid documents. 

(iii) The bidding agent will analyze the bids and present the information to a tender 
evaluation committee for consideration. The committee is composed of the client's 
representatives and independent tender experts selected at random from a national 
database. 
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(iv) Responses to the questionnaire show a systematic procedure in inviting bids, bids 
evaluation, and contract award. 

(v) Each IA will hire a construction supervision company to supervise the works on site 
and check for progress and works quality. 

Assessment of Procurement Processes for Consulting Services 

Three consultancy package financed from the loan will be to assist the EA and lAs in project 
implementation and selection of the consultant will be by the QCBS method. 

Assessment of Process Control and Oversight 

From responses to the questionnaire it appears that adequate controls are in place: 
 

1. Separate agencies are involved in approving bid documents, tender evaluation etc. 
2. Contractual performance is consistently monitored and reported upon.  
3. There are procedures for dealing with invoicing, payment and non-payment. 

 
Hence the additional process controls required will be ADB interventions to ensure 
compliance with ADB procurement principles by means of review of procurement 
documents and bid evaluation reports through ADB's "Prior Review" or "Post Review". 

Assessment of Records Keeping 

A reasonable record system is adopted for safekeeping of the original contract, copies of 
bids and evaluation, and contract administration papers. 

Summary Assessment and Recommendations 

The EA has adequate technical resources to undertake procurement of consultancy 
services, goods, and works. There are also established arrangements for handling the 
various stages of procurement from preparation of bid documents, tender invitation, bid 
evaluation, contract award, to construction supervision and contract performance 
monitoring. Checking and control of the procurement processes are also provided for. 

 
Engagement of a team of international and domestic loan implementation consultants to 
build project management capacity including procurement capability during the project 
implementation stage is recommended. The consultants will review the detail design, 
specifications, O&M requirements, bid document contractual conditions, and the bid 
evaluation report, including address of ADB's comments on relevant documents. 
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Specific Recommendations: Project Implementation 

Capacity Constraint Recommended Action 
Responsibility 
and Comment 

The EA and lAs are ADB specialists to conduct seminars ADB/EA 
unfamiliar with ADB to EA and lAs and PMOs on  

procurement requirements as procurement and disbursements;  
detailed in ADB's Loan implementation consultant to  
Procurement Guidelines provide on-the-job training during bid  
(February 2010, as amended document preparation (technical and  
from time to time) and 
payment procedures in 

financial aspects) and bid evaluation, 
and in addressing ADB's comments 

 

accordance with ADB's Loan ADB to require:  
Disbursement Handbook. Prior Review: all ICB contracts, first  

 NCB contract (works), first NCB 
contract (goods), 
recruitment of consultants 

 

 Post Review:  

 Shopping (goods and works)  
 

General Recommendations: EA Capacity 

Capacity Constraint Recommended Action Responsibility 
and Comment 

Anhui PMO is ADB's contact 
point on the borrower's side. 
The constraint is that the 
subproject PMOs are 
remotely located from Anhui 
PMO. 

A working procedure may have to be 
developed to streamline 
communications for the sake of 
efficiency. 

Anhui 
PMO/subproject 
PMOs 

General Recommendations: National Procurement Environment 

Capacity Constraint Recommended Action Responsibility 
and Comment 

Recruitment of consulting 
services is not 
accommodated in the 
national "Bidding Law". 

On-going ADB-TA needs to pursue 
with NDRC or another PRC entity. 

ADB/NDRC 

 

ADB = Asian Development Bank, EA = executing agency, IA = implementing agency, ICB = international 
competitive bidding, NCB = national competitive bidding, NDRC = National Development and Reform 
Commission, O&M = operation and maintenance, PMO = project management office, PPTA = project 
preparatory technical assistance, PRC = People's Republic of China, QCBS = quality- and cost-based selection, 
TA = technical assistance, TOR = terms of reference. 
Note: The assessment and general recommendations concerning the national procurement environment are 
based on separate findings of COSO of the ADB. 




